

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

93 12 13 043

Best Available Copy

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Citation of manufacturer's or trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

REPORT DOCL	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188		
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is gamening and mantaining the data needed, and complet collection of information, including suggestions for reduct Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Artington, VA, 22202-4302, 2	s esemates to average 1 hour per relibonse, incluing and revewing the collection of information. Sing the burden, to Washington Headbuarters San and to the Office of Management and Budget. Par	dung the time for review and comments regarding inces. Directorate for inf perwent Reduction Prov	ng instructions, searching existing data sources, jithis burden estimate or any other aspect of this simistion Coerrelisions and Reports, 1215 Jefferson ict (0704-0168), Washington, DC 20503.
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	2. REPORT DATE	3. REPORT TYPE A	ND DATES COVERED
	October 1993	·Final	Report
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE			S. FUNDING NUMBERS
A Preliminary Evaluatio PPZ™	n of the Phosphazene	Resin	
E. AUTHOR(S)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·····	
Adam J. Jaglowski. Kari	n M. Gabriel, and Mar	c S. Peni	
		0 0. icpi	
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND AD	DRESS(ES)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION
U.S. Army Research Labo	ratory		REPORT NUMBER
Watertown, MA 02172-00	01		ARL-TR-223
ATTN: AMSRL-MA-PB			
. SPONSORING,MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) A	NO ADORESS(ES)		10. SPONSORING/MONITORING
U.S. Army Research Labo	ratory		AGENCY REPORT NUMBER
2800 Powder Mill Road	-		
Adelphi, MD 20783-1197			
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES			<u> </u>
128. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMENT			128. DISTRIBUTION CODE
Approved for public rele	ease; distribution un	limited.	
13. ABSTRACT (Manmum 200 words)	<u> </u>		
A phosphazene material	PPZ [™] , is reported by Iden	nitsu Petroch	emical Company
(Takwa Japan) ta haya avcall	ant chemical and abrasion	resistance nr	operties for hardcoating

(Tokyo, Japan) to have excellent chemical and abrasion resistance properties for hardcoating applications. An evaluation of the chemical resistance of this coating is presented. PPZ coated on poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET) films were challenged with simulants (2-chloroethyl ethyl sulfide (CEES), 2-chloroethyl methyl sulfide (CEMS), diisopropyl methyphosphonate (DIMP)) and a decontaminant (DS-2) via a droplet test method. Preliminary results showed that the PPZ coating was affected by DIMP. CEES, and CEMS as observed by optical and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Upon visual examination, the DS-2 treated specimen did show an effect: however, the coating's behavior to this corrosive liquid is inconclusive. In addition, PPZTM resin was coated on polycarbonate (PC) using a modified ASTM D823-87 method and cured by ultraviolet light. Curing time was determined by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) using an attenuated total reflectance (ATR) technique. The Taber abrasion resistance of the PPZ-coated PC specimens were slightly lower than reported values.

14. SUBJECT TERMS Phosphazene; Chen	nical resistance; Pol	yethylene	15. NUMBER OF PAGES
terephthalate; Po	olycarbonates; Abrasi	on	16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF ABSTRACT	20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	UL

NSN 7540-01-280-5500

Contents

P	age
Introduction	. 1
Experimental	
Materials	. 2
Instrumentation	. 2
Chemical Droplet Testing	. 3
Coating of PC Substrate	. 3
Curing of PPZ-coated PC	. 3
Taber Test Method and Analysis	. 5
Results and Discussion	
Characterization of Uncured PPZ Resin	. 5
Chemical Treatment of PPZ-coated PET Films	. 7
Curing of PPZ resin on Polycarbonate	12
Abrasion Testing of PPZ-coated PC	13
Conclusions	15
Acknowledgments	15
References	16

Figures

1.	Preparation of 3-PNC-6HEMA 1
2.	Schematic of coating configuration
3.	Schematic of UV curing apparatus
4.	IR spectrum (a) and GC/MS analysis (b) of uncured PPZ TM resin
	Scheme 1
5.	Optical (a) and SEM (b through d) micrographs of DIMP-treated, PPZ-coated PET
6 .	Optical (a) and SEM (b through d) micrographs of CEMS-treated, PPZ-coated PET
7.	Optical (a) and SEM (b through d) micrographs of CEES-treated, PPZ-coated PET

8.	SEM	micrograph (5000X) of untreated PPZ-coated PET	12
9 .	ATR	spectrum of the PPZ coating	13
10.	ATR	spectra of cured PPZ coatings on PC substrates at curing times	14

Table

1.	Haze	data	from	Taber	abrasion	test	on	polycarbonates	3
----	------	------	------	-------	----------	------	----	----------------	---

Accesic	in For)	
NTIS	CRA&I	V	
DTIC	T40	<u></u>	1
Unanne	20. cost	• 	
Justific	8 8.8		
By Distrib	ution I Valita Lity		
Dist	Avat of Spec	t i Gr Gi	•••
A-1			

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTED 3

.

Introduction

Idemitsu Chemical Company has developed a curable phosphazene resin (PPZ^{TM}) (1-4), which is being marketed as a hardcoating for various substrates such as poly (ethylene terephthalate) (PET), poly(vinyl chloride) (PVC), poly(methylmethacryate) (PMMA), polycarbonate (PC), and wood. The cured resin is reported to have the following properties:

- Excellent Transparency
- Superior Chemical Resistance
- Substantial Abrasion Resistance
- Extreme Hardness
- Excellent Heat Resistance
- Low Curing Shrinkage
- Low Dynamic Friction Coefficient

The cured phosphazene resin is observed to be harder and more abrasion resistant than PMMA and PC. The phosphazene resin is also reported to be chemically resistant to detergents, bleach, solvents, dilute acid, and alkaline solutions (1,2).

PC is widely used in the Army for transparent armor applications such as lenses and canopies because of its optical clarity and ballistic properties. However, better abrasion and chemical resistance properties of PC are needed. Work has been undertaken to evaluate potential protective hardcoatings for PC (5). Since the PPZ material appears to have good mechanical, chemical, and optical properties and can be applied to PC substrates, an evaluation is warranted. This report describes the chemical resistance evaluation of the phosphazene resin PPZ (on PET substrate) to DS-2, 2-chloroethyl ethyl sulfide (CEES), 2-chloroethyl methyl sulfide (CEMS), and diisopropyl methylphosphonate (DIMP). In addition, this report also describes the coating of PC with PPZ and abrasion testing of these PPZ-coated specimens.

The resin is composed of the material, 3PNC-6HEMA 1 which is a cyclic phosphazene. 3PNC-6HEMA is prepared form the reaction of hexachloro-cyclotriphosphazene with 2-hydroxycthyl methacrylate (see Figure 1). The phosphazene monomer can be cured by irradiation with ultraviolet (UV) light, electron beams, or heat.



Figure 1. Preparation of 3PNC-6HEMA 1.

Experimental

Materials

Uncured phosphazene resin (PPZTM resin, Lot No. 911211-U-1000) and PPZ coated on 120 μ m PET films (8 in. x 11 in.) were obtained from Idemitsu Petrochemical Company, Japan (POC: Dr. Atsunori Yaguchi). The thickness of the PPZ coating on PET was approximately 10 μ m. CEES, CEMS, and DIMP were used as-received. DS-2 was prepared by mixing 2% sodium hydroxide, 28% 2-methoxyethanol, and 70% diethylenetriamine by weight. The DS-2 mixture was used immediately after preparation. Polycarbonate sheets (G. E. Lexan) coated with a protective paper on both sides were cut to 4 in. x 4 in. x 0.125 in. dimensions for coating.

Instrumentation

A Fourier transformed infrared (FTIR) spectrum of uncured PPZ resin was recorded in percent transmittance with a Perkin-Elmer 1740 Infrared Fourier Transform Spectrophotometer at 4 cm⁻¹ resolution as a thin film between NaCl plates. FTIR spectra of PPZ-coated PET and PC samples were obtained with the same spectrometer and an Analect Instrument ATR Model FXA-523 4265 accessory, equipped with a 45° KRS-5 crystal (thallium bromide iodide), at an incident angle of 45°. Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) was performed on a concentrated solution of PPZ resin in acetone with a Hewlett-Packard 5995C GC/MS using helium as the carrier gas, a split ratio of 50:1, and a 0.33 μ m poly(dimethylsiloxane) stationary phase. The fused-silica capillary GC column (12 m, 0.20 mm) was temperature programmed from 30°C to 320°C at 10°C per minute. The mass spectrometer was scanned from mass/charge (m/z) 10 to m/z 400 at a rate of 2 scans per second.

Optical micrographs were obtained with an Olympus SZH stereomicroscope. Scanning electron micrographs (SEM) were obtained with a JEOL JSM-840A SEM using an accelerating voltage of 15.0 KeV. SEM samples were sputtered with a gold/palladium coating before examination.

Chemical Droplet Testing

Single droplet testing

In a vented hood, a 2 in. x 2 in. sample of PPZ-coated PET was challenged with one of the following liquids: CEMS, CEES, DIMP, or DS-2. A 3 microliter droplet of a challenging liquid was applied to the center of the sample and a watch glass was then placed over the sample. After 24 hours at room temperature, the watch glass was removed, and the sample was left uncovered for an additional 24 hours for airation. Each sample was thoroughly rinsed with distilled water and allowed to dry before microscopic examination.

Multiple droplet testing

The procedure was the same as the single droplet testing except that a 3 microliter droplet of a challenging liquid was applied four times, once every 24 hours.

Coating of PC Substrate

One side of the protective laminate was removed from the PC prior to coating. The exposed side was washed several times with isopropyl alcohol and air dried with a heat gun. The exposed PC substrate was coated using a modified method of ASTM D 823-87 (6) and a Gardener knife (see Figure 2). The uncoated sample was held firmly in place by three PC sheets of the same thickness which were secured with double-sided tape to an underlying glass surface. The sheets provided a virtually frictionless path along which the knife could be dragged. After the sample was placed in the channel, the knife edge was placed in contact with the edge of the sample. An empirically determined amount of the PPZ resin was then placed at the edge of the sample. The thickness of the applied coating was approximately 50 μ m.

Curing of PPZ-coated PC

The coated PC sample was placed in a UV curing apparatus (see Figure 3) after the underside protective laminate was removed. The UV curing apparatus was constructed of foam board and internally lined with aluminum foil. The sample was then irradiated with a Black-Ray B100-A UV lamp (1600 μ W/cm²) for approximately 15 minutes. The cured PPZ-coated PC samples were cut to specific tests sizes and placed between wax paper sheets to prevent scratching and dust accumulation.

3



C: Polycarbonate guides

Figure 2. Schematic of coating configuration.



*The ventilation holes are offset to allow for free convective cooling of the samples while preventing UV light from escaping.

Figure 3. Schematic of UV curing apparatus.

Taber Test Method and Analysis

Abrasion of coated and uncoated PC samples was performed in accordance with ASTM D 1044-85 utilizing a Taber abrader (7). The samples were cut into 4 in. diameter disks and abraded for 100 cycles with a 500 g load. The samples were then analyzed according to ASTM D 1003-61 (8). The increase in haze was determined with a Gardner integrating sphere haze meter equipped with a PG-5500 Digital Photometric Unit and slit width of 0.469 in.

Results and Discussion

Characterization of Uncured PPZ Resin

The uncured PPZTM resin was analyzed by FTIR and GC/MS. The IR spectrum (see Figure 4a) showed absorptions in the following regions: hydroxyl group (3525 and 1060 cm⁻¹); carbon to hydrogen bond group (3099, 2957, 2894, 1457, and 1408 cm⁻¹); carbon to carbon double-bond group (1638 and 1615 cm⁻¹); carbonyl group (1723 cm⁻¹); carbon to oxygen bond group (1269 and 1176 cm⁻¹), and phosphazene bond group (1234 cm⁻¹). All the noted absorptions should be present for structure 1 with the exception of the hydroxyl group. The presence of the hydroxyl group suggested that the resin is comprised of 1 and other components. GC/MS analysis confirmed that the PPZ resin is indeed composed of several additional components; hydroxylated acrylates and methacrylates, UV curing initiator, antioxidant, diluent, and an unidentified component. However, 3PNC-6HEMA 1 could not be detected by GC/MS since the molecular weight is out of the instrument range of detection. The cured PPZ resin is illustrated in Scheme I. Since the resin is comprised mostly of the methacrylated phosphazene 1 it would likely form a highly crosslinked system.



.



Figure 4. IR spectrum (a) and GC/MS analysis (b) of uncured PPZ resin.





Chemical Treatment of PPZ-coated PET Films

The PPZ-coated PET samples were exposed to droplets of DS-2, DIMP, CEMS, and CEES. In all instances the challenging liquid affected the PPZ-coated PET samples. The droplets did not spread upon application to the surfaces, with the exception of DIMP. In the DS-2 treatment, only one 3 μ L droplet was applied, and a faint hazing was visually observed over the entire area of the applied droplet. An optical micrograph of the effected area was not obtainable. Application of one droplet of DIMP affected the PPZ-coated PET sample in the formation of a ring (see Figure 5a). Upon additional DIMP applications, the liquid migrated to an untreated spot on the film whereby a new ring formed. The PPZ-coated PET samples appeared to be unaffected upon applications of CEMS or CEES affected the specimens. The formation of a ring was observed (see Figures 6a and 7a, respectively). How the chemicals affected the PPZ-coated PET films could not be explained by examination of the optical micrographs.

Examination of the untreated PPZ-coated PET by SEM (see Figure 8) indicated that the film had little dimples. These markings may have resulted from the industrial coating process. Whether or not these dimples are sources of pinholes for permeation of liquids to the underlying substrate could not be determined from this study.

A SEM micrograph could not be obtained from the DS-2 treated PET films, and a full explanation cannot be provided to the source of the observed haze in these specimens. Further investigation of the behavior of the coating, by itself, to DS-2 exposure is needed in order to explain this observation. However, it is speculated that the haze was from the underlying PET substrate. Pinholes in the PPZ coating may have allowed the DS-2 to permeate to the PET underlayer. This event is expected to cause an effect on the PPZ coating; however, SEM studies do not reveal any defects on the surface.

The SEM micrographs of the DIMP-treated films showed that upon exposure the affected surfaces developed a cloudlike texture (see Figures 5b through 5d increasing magnification of the same area). This texture gives rise to the observed haze. The treated areas on the PPZ/PET samples did not have the same wettability properties with DIMP as the untreated areas as evidenced by the migration of subsequent droplets to untreated areas. This observation suggested that the surface properties of the treated film changed. There are two possible explanations for this observed change. First, the PPZ coating was medified either morphologically, chemically, or in combination. Secondly, the PPZ coating was removed upon exposure to DIMP and allowed the PET to be exposed. It is known that DIMP does not interact significantly with PET but does with an acrylate (PMMA) resulting in a slow dissolution (9). In a crosslinked acrylate as PPZ, DIMP is not likely to dissolve the PPZ; however, it could swell the coating. If the coating swells and fails, the PET is then exposed. Upon another DIMP treatment, the liquid, which does not interact favorably with exposed PET, migrates to an untreated area on the sample. Application of energy dispersive spectroscopy (EPS) to the cloudlike texture revealed the presence of phosphorous. This result did not support one explanation over the other since, in the latter explanation, it is possible that some PPZ coating material may have been left behind.

In the CEMS- and CEES-treated films, the SEM results revealed that the coating bubbled up in the affected areas, although not completely over the entire treated area (see Figures 6b through 6d and 7b through 7d increasing magnification of the same area). It is well known that acrylates are not chemically resistant to chlorinated hydrocarbons (9,10). Immersion studies of PMMA in a chlorinated hydrocarbon have shown a slow weight loss of the PMMA sample (9). The weight loss is probably due to the dissolution of PMMA in this chemical. Since the PPZ coating has an acrylate functionalized polymer backbone, it was expected that chlorinated hydrocarbons such as CEMS and CEES may interact with the coating, but not to the extent of the uncrosslinked acrylate PMMA. The highly crosslinked PPZ coating was not expected to be soluble in CEES or CEMS. Therefore, the observed bubbling up of the coating was probably due to the adsorption of CEMS or CEES into the coating causing swelling and probably delamination from underlying PET substrate. The observed haze was a result of this bubbling effect.

8



Figure 5. Optical (a) and SEM (b through d) micrographs of DIMP-treated, PPZ-coated PET: (a) 10X; (b) 170X at a 66° tilt angle; (c) 1000X at a 66° tilt angle; and (d) 7500X at a 66° tilt angle



Figure 6. Optical (a) and SEM (b through d) micrographs of CEMS-treated, PPZ-coated PET: (a) 30X; (b) 35X at a 66° tilt angle; (c) 100X at a 66° tilt angle; and (d) 1000X at a 66° tilt angle.



Figure 7. Optical (a) and SEM (b through d) micrographs of CEES-treated, PPZ-coated PET: (a) 30X; (b) 35X at a 66° tilt angle; (c) 170X at a 66° tilt angle; and (d) 400X at a 66° tilt angle.



Figure 8. SEM micrograph (5000X) of untreated PPZ-coated PET.

Curing of PPZ Resin on Polycarbonate

The coating and curing of PPZ on PC substrate was accomplished as shown by the schematics in Figures 2 and 3. The curing time for the PPZ resin was determined by comparing the ATR spectra of PPZ coated on PET to specimens cured at times of 10 minutes 1 16 minutes (11). The PPZ coating on PET was used as a representative IR spectrum for a fully cured resin (see Figure 9). Figures 10a through 10d show the ATR spectra of cured PPZ resin on PC at UV curing times of 10, 12, 14, and 15 minutes, respectively. In comparing the ATR spectra of the expected fully cured PPZ with cured samples at various times, several things were noted. First, the carbonyl region (1720 cm-1 to 1760 cm-1) changed from two medium absorptions to one strong absorption upon an increase in the cure time. Secondly, the 700 cm⁻¹ through 1100 cm⁻¹ region markedly changed from medium to strong broad absorptions upon an increase in the cure time. Finally, the ATR spectrum of the 15 minute cured specimen resembled the fully cured resin spectrum. Therefore, these results indicated that suitable PPZ-coated PC samples could be prepared using the described coating and curing procedures at a 15 minute cure time. For comparison, the industrial PPZ coating is optimally applied by roll, spray, or dip coating and cured for 3 sec to 10 sec at a higher UV dosage (2).



Figure 9. ATR spectrum of the PPZ coating.

Abrasion Testing of PPZ-coated PC

The results of the abrasion resistance tests are summarized in Table 1. These preliminary findings indicated that PPZ did not significantly hinder the transparency of PC. Furthermore, the results show that PPZ provided only a slight increase in abrasion resistance as compared to reported values (2). There are several possibilities for the aforementioned disparity; i.e., curing conditions, coating process, and film thickness. The most apparent cause for the disparity could be improper curing time despite cure monitoring by IR. If the specimens were overcured, then the sample might not perform as desired. An alternative source for the disparity might by the coating process. Lower abrasion resistance could be noted if the samples were poorly coated; this results in nonuniformity, voids, pinholes, or defects. In addition, film thickness could effect the abrasion results.

Sample ID	% Initial haze	% Abraded haze*	% Increase*
PPZ (A)	2.7	28.58	25.88
PPZ (B)	3.9	26.83	22.93
PPZ (C)	2.2	30.36	28.16
PC (A)	1.2	. 34.05	32.85
PC (8)	1	33.9	32.9
PC (C)	0.8	30.15	29.35
Average of PPZ	2.93		25.66
Average of PC	1		31.7

Table 1. Haze data from Taber abrasion test on polycarbonates

* These values are the average of multiple readings from the same sample.









Conclusions

PPZ-coated PET samples were evaluated for chemical resistance to DS-2, CEMS, CEES, and DIMP. All specimens were affected; after one droplet addition of DS-2 and DIMP and after multiple droplet additions of CEES and CEMS. This preliminary evaluation revealed that the PPZ coating is effected by CEES, CEMS, and DIMP. In the DS-2 case, additional work is needed to determine if the coating is resistant to this corrosive liquid. Also, further work is needed to fully explain how the DIMP is effecting the PPZ coating. To investigate both of these situations, the PPZ coating must be deposited on a substrate such as glass, which does not interact with the challenging chemical, although these preliminary results suggest that the coating is not chemically resistant to the tested stimulants and decontaminant. Nevertheless, further investigation is needed in order to fully evaluate this coating as a promising material.

PPZ was coated on PC sheets. FTIR monitoring of the curing indicated that for a coating thickness of approximately 50 μ m a 15 minute cure was sufficient in the described UV setup. However, evaluation of the abrasion properties with respect to the literature values indicated that the applied coating was not as good as industrially cured PPZ coatings. Further work is needed to fully understand the disparity between our cured samples and the industrially cured coatings.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful for the assistance of David Bulpet for GC/MS analysis, Dr. James Sloan and Thomas Kenney for IR analysis, Stephen Bodnar and Karen Kinsley for technical advice regarding the chemical exposure tests, and Lenny Levasseur of the U.S. Army Natick Research, Development, and Engineering Center for technical advice regarding the haze testing. The authors also acknowledge the helpful technical discussions held with Dr. Alex Hsich and Dr. Anthony Wilde.

References

- 1. YAGUCHI, A., MORI, S., KITAYAMA, M., ONDA, T., KURAHASHI, A., and ANDO, H. The Characteristics of Cyclic Phosphazene and Its Applications for Hard Coating. Thin Solid Films, v. 216, 1992, p. 123-125.
- 2. Personal Communications with Tatsuki Onda. Atsunori Yaguchi, and Masahiro Kitayama of the Idemitsu Chemical Company.
- 3. Japan. Patent Publ. Kokoku, 2448, 1984.
- 4. Japan. Patent Publ. Kokai, 241,075, 1988.
- 5. HSIEH, A. J., DEHMER, P. G., and YIP, P. W. Preliminary Evaluation of Diamond-like Carbon Coated Polycarbonate. U.S. Army Materials Technology Laboratory, MTL TR 91-42, September 1991, and References Therein.
- 6. Standard Test Methods for Producing Films of Uniform Thickness of Paint, Varnish, and Related Products on Test Panels. ASTM D 823-87, 1987, p. 104-11.
- 7. Standard Test Method for Resistance of Transparent Plastics to Surface Abrasion. ASTM D 1044-85, 1988, p. 380-383.
- 8. Standard Test Method for Haze and Luminous Transmittance of Transparent Plastics. ASTM D 1003-61, 1988, p. 358-363.
- 9. WILDE, A. F. Private Communication. Unpublished Results.
- 10. MENGEL, G. R. Acrylics. Modern Plastic Encyclopedia, R. Greene, ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, 1991, p. 11-15.
- 11. COMPTON, S. V., and STOUT, P. Qualitative Analysis of Thin Coatings on Lenses. American Laboratory, May 1993, 36N-36R.

DISTRIBUTION LIST

No. of Copies	То
1	Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Research and Engineering, The Pentagon, Washington, DC 20301
1 1	Director, U.S. Army Research Laboratory, 2800 Powder Mill Road, Adelphi, MD 20783-1197 ATTN: AMSRL-OP-CI-AD, Technical Publishing Branch AMSRL-OP-CI-AD, Records Management Administrator
2	Commander, Defense Technical Information Center, Cameron Station, Building 5, 5010 Duke Street, Alexandria, VA 22304-6145 ATTN: DTIC-FDAC
1	MIA/CINDAS, Purdue University, 2595 Yeager Road, West Lafayette, IN 47905
1	Commander, Army Research Office, P.O. Box 12211, Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-2211 ATTN: Information Processing Office
1	Commander, U.S. Army Materiel Command, 5001 Eisenhower Avenue, Alexandria, VA 22333 ATTN: AMCSCI
1	Commander, U.S. Army Materiel Systems Analysis Activity, Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21005-5066 ATTN: AMXSY-MP, H. Cohen
1	Commander, U.S. Army Missile Command, Redstone Arsenal, AL 35809 ATTN: AMSMI-RD-CS-R/Doc
2	Commander, U.S. Army Armament, Munitions and Chemical Command, Dover, NJ 07801 ATTN: Technical Library
1	Commander, U.S. Army Natick Research, Development and Engineering Center, Natick, MA 01760-5010 ATTN: Technical Library
1	Commander, U.S. Army Satellite Communications Agency, Fort Monmouth, NJ 07703 ATTN: Technical Document Center
1 1	Commander, U.S. Army Tank-Automotive Command, Warren, MI 48397-5000 ATTN: AMSTA-ZSK AMSTA-TSL, Technical Library
1	Commander, White Sands Missile Range, NM 88002 ATTN: STEWS-WS-VT
1	President, Airborne, Electronics and Special Warfare Board, Fort Bragg, NC 28307 ATTN: Library
1	Director, U.S. Army Research Laboratory, Weapons Technology, Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21005 ATTN: AMSRL-WT
1	Commander, Dugway Proving Ground, UT 84022 ATTN: Technical Library, Technical Information Division
1	Commander, U.S. Army Research Laboratory, 2800 Powder Mill Road, Adelphi, MD 20783 ATTN: AMSRL-SS
1 1 1 1	Director, Benet Weapons Laboratory, LCWSL, USA AMCCOM, Watervliet, NY 12189 ATTN: AMSMC-LCB-TL AMSMC-LCB-R AMSMC-LCB-RM AMSMC-LCB-RP
3	Commander, U.S. Army Foreign Science and Technology Center, 220 7th Street, N.E., Charlottesville, VA 22901-5396 ATTN: AIFRTC, Applied Technologies Branch, Gerald Schlesinger
1	Commander, U.S. Army Aeromedical Research Unit, P.O. Box 577, Fort Rucker, AL 36360 ATTN: Technical Library

No. of Copi es	То
1	U.S. Army Aviation Training Library, Fort Rucker, AL 36360 ATTN: Building 5906-5907
1	Commander, U.S. Army Agency for Aviation Safety, Fort Rucker, AL 36362 ATTN: Technical Library
1	Commander, Clarke Engineer School Library, 3202 Nebraska Ave., N, Fort Leonard Wood, MO 65473-5000 ATTN: Library
1	Commander, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, P.O. Box 631, Vicksburg, MS 39180 ATTN: Research Center Library
1	Commandant, U.S. Army Quartermaster School, Fort Lee, VA 23801 ATTN: Quartermaster School Library
2	Naval Research Laboratory, Washington, DC 20375 ATTN: Dr. G. R. Yoder - Code 6384
1	Chief of Naval Research, Arlington, VA 22217 ATTN: Code 471
1 1	Commander, U.S. Air Force Wright Research & Development Center, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH 45433-6523 ATTN: WRDC/MLLP, M. Forney, Jr. WRDC/MLBC, Mr. Stanley Schulman
1	U.S. Department of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaitherburg, MD 20899 ATTN: Stephen M. Hsu, Chief, Ceramics Division, Institute for Materials Science and Engineering
1	Committee on Marine Structures, Marine Board, National Research Council, 2101 Constitution Avenue, N.W., Washington, DC 20418
1	Materials Sciences Corporation, Suite 250, 500 Office Center Drive, Fort Washington, PA 19034
1	Charles Stark Draper Laboratory, 555 Technology Square, Cambridge, MA 02139
1	Wyman-Gordon Company, Worcester, MA 01601 ATTN: Technical Library
1	General Dynamics, Convair Aerospace Division P.O. Box 748, Forth Worth, TX 76101 ATTN: Mfg. Engineering Technical Library
1	Plastics Technical Evaluation Center, PLASTEC, ARDEC Bldg. 355N, Picatinny Arsenal, NJ 07806-5000 ATTN: Harry Pebly
1	Department of the Army, Aerostructures Directorate, MS-266, U.S. Army Aviation R&T Activity - AVSCOM, Langley Research Center, Hampton, VA 23665-5225
1	NASA - Langley Research Center, Hampton, VA 23665-5225
1	U.S. Army Vehicle Propulsion Directorate, NASA Lewis Research Center, 2100 Brookpark Road, Cleveland, OH 44135-3191 ATTN: AMSRL-VP
1	NASA - Lewis Research Center, 2100 Brookpark Road, Cleveland, OH 44135-3191
1	Director, Defense Intelligence Agency, Washington, DC 20340-6053 ATTN: ODT-5A (Mr. Frank Jaeger)
2 15	Commander, U.S. Army Research Laboratory, Watertown, MA 02172-0001 ATTN: AMSRL-OP-CI-D, Technical Library Authors

.